I. ISSUES 

1. Do Mississippi Appellate Courts grant de novo review of legal issues in an appeal from 

a decision to grant a zoning variance? 

2. Can a zoning variance be based on hardship where the alleged hardship was created 

by the property owner's predecessor in title? 

3. Where a landowner is fully able to use his property for any purpose connected to its 

zoning, can he be said to suffer a hardship-an interference with his use of his property­

supporting a zoning variance? 

4. Can a city's decision to grant a variance be affirmed where the city failed to find that 

this was the minimum that would make possible a reasonable use of the land? 

5. Is the city's decision to grant a variance justifiable on the theory that neighbors could 

build a similar fence? 

II. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW 

In the lower court, this commenced as an appeal from a decision of the City of 

Oxford through its Planning Commission, which made a decision over the objection of 

appellant William Alias to grant a zoning variance to Richard Elam. The decision of the city 

was reflected in the planning commission minutes for May 14, 2007. (R. 16,22) (Record 

Excerpts Tab 4). On June 14, 2007, William Alias flled a notice of appeal and bilI of 

exceptions from this decision in the Circuit Court of Lafayette County. (R. 1, R. 3). After 

the city objected to certain parts of the original bilI of exceptions, an amended bilI of 

exceptions was flled. R. 69. After briefing by William Allias (R. 75-86, 103-114) and the City 

of Oxford (R. 87-102), the Circuit Court rendered an opinion on March 11, 2008. (R. 116-



124) (Record Excerpts Tab 2). A notice of appeal was filed on April 4, 2008 (R. 125), from 

which this appeal has followed. 

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

This is a suit in which William Alias objected to a variance that was granted to allow 

his neighbor, Richard Elam, to build a fence along Elam's driveway that exceeded the height 

allowances in the Land Development Code of the City of Oxford. To understand the facts, 

it is important to understand the nature of the Elam lot, because it is the nature of the lot 

itself that produced the dispute in this case. Mr. Elam's lot is a "flag lot." This is probably 

best explained through a picture, showing, first Mr. Elam's lot in context (surrounded by 

other lots and the street, Majestic Oaks Drive). The Elam lot is lot number 213, and the 

Alias lot is lot number 214. 
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This picture is excerpted from Exhibit K to the Bill of Exceptions and is found at R. 39 in 

the record below. The main part of Elam's lot ("the flag") is effectively in the back yard of 

lot 212, with the driveway ("the pole") out to Majestic Oaks Drive between lot 212 and lot 
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This picture is excerpted from Exhibit A to the Bill of Exceptions in the record below and is 

found at R. 9. Note the line labeled "Fence 150"'-this is the fence in the variance that is 

the subject of this appeal. 

It is in the nature of the "flag lot" that the entire "pole" part of the driveway is in 

front of the front line of a building on the lot, as it is in this case. The City of Oxford Land 

Development Code describes the front line of a building as "A line intersecting the foremost 
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portion of a building and parallel and/or concentric to the right of way line." City of 

Oxford Land Development Code §17.23. Elsewhere, the land development code provides 

that "no fence... located in front of any front building line shall exceed 30 inches in 

height .... " City of Oxford Land Development Code §157. 

What Mr. Elam sought is a variance from this height requirement so that he could 

build a fence along the "pole" portion of his flag lot. By the layout of Mr. Elam's lot and the 

positioning of his house, the entire driveway is by definition in front of the front line of his 

house. (R. 9). (plat showing Elam house). R. 6-7 (Record Excerpts Tab 3) 

(Recommendation of City Planning Director describing the conditions at Elam's lot). 

Obviously, the decisions about the shape of his lot and the location of his house were both 

choices made by either Mr. Elam or his predecessors in title, who would include the 

developer who platted the subdivision. 

Among the evidence before the City were two affidavits. One, an affidavit by Rick 

Elam, describes in detail the circumstances that led him to begin building the fence without a 

variance. None of these facts relate to the issues of whether a variance should be granted. 

See Affidavit of Rick Elam at ~~ 1-10 (Exhibit D to Bill of Exceptions) (R. 25). In 

paragraph 11, he states that the city planner "recommended the requested variance be 

granted because the hardship created by the unique shape of my lot is not of my doing and 

because a literal interpretation of the Ordinance would deprive me of rights commonly 

enjoyed by my neighbors (for example, Mr. Alias could build the exact same fence on his 

side of the property line without requesting a variance)." Mr. Alias's affidavit (R. 42) goes 

into far more factual detail relating to the standards for granting a variance. Some facts 

related to the question of the impact of the variance on the neighborhood and the relative 

impact on Mr. Alias and Mr. Elam of allowing the fence: 
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a. Because the proposed fence is on a hill, at the ground its base ranges from 

over four feet higher than Mr. Alias's back yard to over a foot-and-a-half 

higher. Because of this, the fence will have the effect of being as much as 12 

feet over Mr. Alias's yard for most of his yard, from the front to the rear of 

his lot. Thus the site itself makes the fence even more obtrusive than an 

eight-foot fence. 

b. Additionally, the fence is almost entirely invisible from Mr. Elam's front 

yard. The entire impact of the fence will be borne by Mr. Alias's lot. It is' 

immediately next to Mr. Alias's driveway. Only a small part of the fence can 

be seen from a small part of Mr. Elam's yard. Furthermore, it "screens" very 

little-it is not possible to see the Alias driveway or garage from Mr. Elarn's 

house or the yard immediately around it due to topography and vegetation. 

This "screen" fence only "screens" part of Mr. Elam's driveway from the 

Alias yard. 

c. This negative impact is enhanced by the scale of the fence. Mr. Elarn states 

in describing his plans that there will be light fixtures. While these lights are 

mentioned, they are not shown on the drawing applying for the building 

permit. Further, the lights are on posts already designated as being 7 '!z feet 

to 8 feet in height. 

Affidavit of William Alias, Jr. at ~~ 4-8 (Exhibit F to Bill of Exceptions) (R 42-43). 

Other facts related to whether a lesser variance or other means would accomplish the 

purpose: "Strategic plantings of five to seven shrubs or trees would accomplish Mr. Elam's 

goal in full compliance with the zoning ordinance. I would have no objection to a screen 

that involved planting trees or shrubs as opposed to an obtrusive fence." ld. at ~ 9 (R. 43). 
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In making his recommendations about the variance, the city's planning director 

commented that the lot was a flag lot and that the variance requested a five foot six inch 

variance. The planning director stated his version of the standard and then said: "The 

unique shape of the subject property (flag lot) creates a hardship that is not the result of the 

applicant and due to the lot's shape, without relief from the ordinance the applicant could 

not erect a southern property line privacy fence, a right commonly enjoyed by other property 

owners within the PUD." (R. 6). He then recommended findings, which were ultimately 

adopted verbatim by the planning commission: 

based on the following findings: the unique shape of the subject property 
(flag lot) is not the result of applicant and the literal interpretation of the 
Ordinance would deprive the applicant of rights commonly enjoyed by other 
property owners within the PUD. 

Recommendation at 2 (Exhibit A to Bill of Exceptions) (R. 6-7) (Record Excerpts Tab 3). It 

is this recommendation that the Planning Commission adopted, verbatim, in granting the 

variance. Minutes of May 15, 2007 Planning Commission Meeting (Exhibit B to Bill of 

Exceptions) (R. 16, 22) (Record Excerpts Tab 4). These facts, some photographs, and a 

copy of a plat or survey of Mr. Elam's lot, along with a drawing of the fence, were the only 

facts before the board that bore on whether a variance should be granted. 

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

This case was an appeal in the court below from a decision under the City of 

Oxford's Land Development Code to grant a variance. It is unusual in that one of the 

contentious issues is scope of review-the city in the court below argued that, even on legal 

issues (such as "what does this ordinance provision mean?"), the city's decisions are entitled 

to deference and only reversible if arbitrary and capricious. The lower court effectively 
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accepted this analysis, taking the view that the city was entitled to deference on every single 

Issue. 

The notion that the deferential review is to be applied to issues of law is error. 

Mississippi appeals courts have held that legal issues in zoning appeals are accorded de novo 

review both explicitly (by so stating) and implicitly (by providing de novo review to legal 

issues). An additional scope of review question involves issues where the facts are not in 

dispute-for instance, where the sole evidence was that there was a less obtrusive variance 

that could have been granted instead, can the variance here be said to be the "minimum 

variance" as required by the Land Development code? 

There are a number of substantive issues that each are requirements for the variance, 

and, if they were not met, the appeals court must reverse the granting of the variance. First, 

it is required that the property owner suffer a "hardship" unless the variance is granted-it 

cannot be for mere convenience. Second, the hardship must not be created by the owner 

asking for the variance or his predecessor in title. Here, the variance was a fence that was in 

no sense necessary for the use of the property, and the reason it was sought was self-created 

when the owner's predecessor platted the lot as a "flag lot." These, the minimum variance 

issue (for which the evidence points only one way), and the mistaken analysis of whether 

other property owners could make the use sought all call for reversal in this case. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. This Court Applies De Novo Review To Legal Issues Such 
As What Constitutes A Hardship for A Zoning Variance­

In Resolving An Appeal from A Decision To Grant 
A Zoning Variance. The Circuit Court Applied The Wrong Scope of Review. 

The principle that must be kept in mind to understand the circuit court's errors is 

that there is more than one scope of review applicable to a zoning appeal. While an appeals 
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court reviewing a zotling decision accepts factual conclusions and findings that are "fairly 

debatable" and therefore not arbitrary and capricious, the appeals court reviews legal issues 

de novo. 

The standard of review in zotling cases is whether the action of the board or 
commission was arbitrary or capricious and whether it was supported by 
substantial evidence. Perez v. Garden lsi, Community Ass'n, 882 So.2d 
217, 219 (Miss. 2004) (citing Broadacres, Inc. v. City of Hattiesburg, 489 
So.2d 501, 503 (Miss. 1986)) .... Where the point at issue is "fairly 
debatable," we will not disturb the zotling authority's action. Perez, 8282 
So.2d at 219; Carpenter, 699 So.2d. at 932. 

The standard of review for questions of law is de novo. Duncan v. Duncan, 
774 So.2d 418, 419 (Miss. 2000). 

Drews v. City of Hattiesburg, 904 So.2d 138, 140 (Miss. 2005) (citing Carpenter v. City 

of Petal, 699 So.2d 928 (Miss. 1997)). 

Thus, on a question such as "what are the conditions at the property," there is a 

deferential standard of review. On the other hand, as with any legal issues, such as where 

the question is "what does this ordinance mean," the standard of review is de novo. Having 

adopted a zotling ordinance, a municipality is bound by its terms. The questions of what 

those terms mean-" -such as "what constitutes a hardship under the ordinance" are legal 

questions, and are not entitled to deferential review. Put another way, the deferential 

standard of review does not allow an appeals court to defer to mistaken legal analysis. The 

city "may not ignore but must abide by the restrictions of all applicable zotling ordinances." 

Noble v. Schiffler, 529 So.2d 902,907 (Miss. 1988); see Caver v. Jackson County Board 

of Supervisors, 947 So.2d 351, 353 (Miss App. 2007) (quoting this language). The way the 

duty to abide by the law is enforced is through appellate review. That is why appellate 

review of legal issues is de novo. Appellate review means applying the standards expressed in 

zotling laws to the facts; this requires interpretation of the zotling laws. If appellate review 

meant acquiescence to the city's view of the law, appellate review would not exist. There is 
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no case support for the notion that an argument over the correct legal standard makes the 

city's position "fairly debatable." 

Additionally, the Mississippi Supreme Court has consistently viewed its review in 

zoning cases as requiring it to interpret and apply the law to the facts. In affirming the 

granting of a conditional use exception in Beasley v. NulY, the court explicitly found that 

"balanced evidentiary considerations were afforded each of the aforementioned criterion" 

from the city's zoning law, and then the court went on to discuss each element of the code 

and the facts that related to each element. Beasley v. NeelY, 911 So.Zd 603, 608-09 (Miss 

ZOOS). Because the facts pointed in more than one direction, the court affirmed the decision 

as fairly debatable. Thus, even in according that part of the review where the city's decision 

is arbitrary and capricious the appeals court still examines the record to see if there are facts 

supporting each element the code requires. This is how the appeals court resolves whether a 

decision was "fairly debatable." "'Fairly debatable' is the antithesis of arbitrary and 

capricious. Saunders v. City of Jackson, 511 So.Zd 90Z, 906 (Miss. 1987). If a decision 

could be considered fairly debatable then it could not be considered arbitrary or capricious." 

Fondren v. City of Jackson, 749 So.Zd 974, 978 (Miss. 1999). Put another way; they are 

opposite sides of the same coin. The "fairly debatable" standard is in turn determined by 

whether there is substantial evidence for the city's position; if a decision is supported by 

substantial evidence, it is fairly debatable. [d. at 979-80. The analysis requires the 

reviewing court to determine whether the applicant proved all conditions required for the 

requested use. Beasley, 911 So.Zd at 607. 

It logically follows from the standard that, if there are no facts to support a fInding, 

this court must reverse. "Absent a record showing suffIcient evidence to support the 
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findings, it is inevitable that reversal will follow." Faircloth /J. Lyles, 592 So.2d 941, 945 

(Miss. 1991). The city's decision must be supported by substantial evidence. " 

Substantial evidence, according to the Mississippi Supreme Court, is defined 
as relevant evidence that reasonable minds might accept as satisfactory to 
support a conclusion or, stated otherwise, that which constitutes "more than 
a 'mere scintilla' of evidence." Hooks /J. George County, 748 So.2d 678, 
680 (Miss. 1999) (quoting Johnson /J. Ferguson, 435 So. 1191,1195 (Miss. 
1983). 

Beastl!y /J. Ntt(y, 911 So.2d at 607n. In Beastl!y, the court emphasized the detailed 

factual investigation by planning corrurussion staff into the factors required by the 

ordinance-that specific facts relating to general welfare or public health of the comtnunity, 

harmony with the neighborhood, whether the new building was hidden or mitigated, and the 

use of a landscape buffer to minimize impact were all considered by the city-all provided a 

factual basis for the elements the city was required to find to allow the variance. 

A corollary to the rule that the city may not ignore but must abide by the restrictions 

of all applicable zoning ordinances is the rule that a decision is arbitrary and capricious 

where an agency "entirely failed to consider an important aspect of the problem ... " 

Mississippi Dep't of En/JtI. Quality /J. Wttms, 653 So.2d 266, 281 (Miss. 1995).' Thus, 

where there are elements in its land development code that the city utterly ignored, such as 

whether the variance granted was the minimum that could be granted-that shows that the 

decision was arbitrary and capricious. 

Carpenter shows how closely the court will review the question of whether the 

decision waS fairly debatable. The City of Pearl had a zoning ordinance under which mobile 

homes were barred in all areas except designated mobile home parks. Carpenter challenged 

'The holding in Wttms is in an appeal of an agency ruling, where the same standard 
applies-whether the decision was arbitrary and capricious. 
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this, argWng that it was arbitrary to refuse to allow mobile homes in areas zoned Rural 

Fringe District. The city answered that it wished to limit mobile homes to protect residential 

home values, for esthetic reasons, and to assure that mobile homes were developed in areas 

where their sites would be safe and sanitary. The Supreme Court rejected this argument, 

noting that chicken coops and hog pens were allowed in areas zoned Rural Fringe District. 

Carpenter, at 699 So.2d at 932-33. Thus, the Supreme Court did not view the city's 

resolution as "fairly debatable." 

In this case, the fIrst error the lower court made was in applying only one standard of 

review; rather than reviewing legal issues de novo and the fIndings of the board under the 

arbitrary and capricious standard, the lower court applied one standard of review for all 

issues. The lower court described "the" standard of review: "The standard of review in 

zoning cases is whether the action of the board was arbitrary or capricious and whether it 

was supported by substantial evidence." Opinion at 5 (Record Excerpts Tab 2, R. 120). The 

opinion then went through the issues raised and took the view that the sole analysis was 

whether the city's position was "fairly debatable." First, the opinion analyzed hardship or 

inconvenience and stated the city's position: That other lot owners could build an identical 

fence, without a variance, made "[tlhe issue of hardship or inconvenience ... fairly 

debatable." Opinion at 6-7 (Record Excerpts Tab 2, R. 121-122). 

In so holding, the lower court implicitly accepted the view advanced by the City of 

Oxford in its brief: That the appeals court had to accept the city's view of its ordinance. See 

Brief of City of Oxford at 5 (R. 91) (argWng that deference had to be accorded city's 

interpretation of its ordinance if it was not arbitrary and capricious). The trial court did not 

consider the legal question of what constituted a hardship or the legal question of whether 
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being unable to make this particular use amounted to a hardship-it just accepted the city's 

view of hardship. 

The court then went on to hold that "[t]he question of whether the hardship was 

self-created by Elam because of actions of his predecessor in title is also fairly debatable, 

particularly taking into account the unusual criteria for construction of a fence around a flag 

lot." Opinion at 7 (Record Excerpts Tab 2, R. 122). This holding completely skips over a 

legal issue of whether a condition created by one's predecessor in title is self-created. The 

court next .held that an issue the city did not even consider-whether this variance was the 

minimum variance-was fairly debatable. !d. The lower court concluded by stating that 

the city was in a better position to evaluate the evidence, and "All issues presented in this 

matter are fairly debatable .... " !d. at 8. By applying the arbitrary and capricious standard 

to "all issues presented," the lower court was entirely failing to recognize the legal issues that 

were before it. 

In working through the issues on this appeal, the required analysis is as follows: 

First, is the issue a question of law? If so, it is accorded de novo review. Second, is the 

question whether a fInding by the city was in error? If so, the question is whether it was 

supported by substantial evidence. 

The city found that a condition of Richard and Karen Elarn's property created a 

hardship. The fIrst issue is a legal one: Can a condition created by one's predecessor in title 

be said to be a hardship? This issue is to be reviewed de novo. The second issue, whether the

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