IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2009-CA-00301

WILLIAM ALIAS, JR.

APPELLANT

VS.

THE CITY OF OXFORD, MISSISSIPPI,

APPELLEE.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LAFAYETTE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAUL B. WATKINS, JR. (MB NO. POPE S. MALLETTE (MB NO MAYO MALLETTE PLLC 5 University Office Park 2094 Old Taylor Road Post Office Box 1456 Oxford, Mississippi 38655 Telephone: (662) 236-0055 Facsimile: (662) 236-0035

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest

in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Alias failed to notice his appeal of the City's zoning decision within ten days as required by MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-51-75. Because Alias' Notice of Appeal was not filed until a month after the City's decision, it was untimely.

The decision of the Board of Adjustment may not be overturned if it was fairly debatable. Alias should not be allowed to undercut the "arbitrary and capricious" standard of review applicable to municipal zoning decisions.

The decision of the Board of Adjustment was not arbitrary and capricious. There is evidence in the record to support the City's findings as to every element required by the Land Development Code.

ARGUMENT

A. Alias' appeal to the Circuit Court was untimely filed

As Alias' Brief points out, the Board of Adjustment granted Elam's request for a variance on May 14, 2007. Alias did not file his Notice of Appeal until June 14, 2007. Alias' Brief, at 1. Because Alias did not file his Notice of Appeal within ten days after the City's decision to grant the variance, this appeal must be dismissed.

Alias appealed the City's zoning decision pursuant to MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-51-75, which provides that "[a]ny person aggrieved by a judgment or decision of the board of supervisors, or municipal authorities of a city, town, or village, may appeal *within ten (10) days from the date of adjournment at which session the board of supervisors or municipal authorities rendered such* *judgment or decision*, and may embody the facts, judgment and decision in a bill of exceptions which shall be signed by the person acting as president of the board of supervisors or of the municipal authorities." (emphasis added). The statutory ten-day deadline is both mandatory and jurisdictional, and neither the circuit court nor any appellate court obtains jurisdiction over an untimely appeal. *Newell v. Jones County*, 731 So. 2d 580, 582 (Miss. 1999).

The Court of Appeals has recently held that the ten-day time period for appealing a municipal decision under Section 11-51-75 begins when the municipality adjourns the meeting at which the decision was made and *not* when the minutes from that meeting are approved. *Rankin Group, Inc. v. City of Richland*, 8 So. 3d 259, 261 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009).² In so holding, the Court of Appeals looked to MISS. CODE ANN. § 21-15-33, which provides in part:

The minutes of every municipality must be adopted and approved by a majority of all the members of the governing body of the municipality at the next regular meeting or within thirty (30) days of *the meeting* thereof, whichever occurs first. Upon such approval, said minutes shall have the legal effect of being valid from and after the date of *the meeting*.

(emphasis added).

This Court has recently held that "where the same word or phrase is used in different parts of a statute, it will be presumed to be used in the same sense throughout." *Barbour v. State* ex rel. *Hood*, 974 So.2d 232, 241 (Miss. 2008) (internal citations omitted). Section 21-15-33 uses the phrase "the meeting" twice. The first time the phrase is used, the statute instructs municipalities to approve the minutes of their official actions either (1) at the governing authorities' next regular meeting or (2) at some point within thirty days of "the meeting" at which such official actions were

²The City did not raise the timeliness issue below. However, because the ten-day time limit is a jurisdictional issue, it may not be waived and it can be raised at any time. *See Esco v. Scott*, 735 So. 2d 1002, 1006 (Miss. 1999); *Duvall v. Duvall*, 80 So. 2d 752, 754 (Miss. 1955).

taken. Nothing in the plain language of the statute indicates that the Legislature intended for its second use of the phrase "the meeting" to carry any different meaning.

The Court of Appeals correctly found that the Legislature's second use of the phrase "the meeting" referred to the original meeting at which the municipality's action was taken, not the meeting at which the minutes of the original meeting were approved. *Id.* at 261; *see also Claiborne County v. Parker*, No. 2008-CA-00126-COA, 2009 WL 1758905, at *1 (Miss. Ct. App. June 23, 2009) ("If an appeal is not filed within ten days of the adjournment of the board meeting at which the decision was made, neither the circuit court, nor this Court, has jurisdiction to consider the appeal.") (internal citations omitted). Once approved, the minutes of the Board of Adjustment's May 14, 2007 meeting were effective on May 14, 2007. Because Alias failed to file his Notice of Appeal within ten days of May 14, 2007, this Court lacks jurisdiction to consider this appeal.

B. The City's decision must be affirmed if it was fairly debatable.

Alias spends nearly six pages of his brief attempting to convince the Court to change its longsettled standard of review for municipal zoning decisions. This standard is deferential to the City and its planning officials' weighing of the facts of each case:

The standard of review in zoning cases is whether the action of the board or commission was *arbitrary or capricious and whether it was supported by substantial evidence*. Thus, zoning decisions will not be set aside unless *clearly shown* to be arbitrary, capricious, discriminatory, illegal or without substantial evidentiary basis. There is a *presumption of validity* of a governing body's enactment or amendment of a zoning ordinance and the *burden of proof is on the party asserting its invalidity*. Where the point at issue is *fairly debatable*, we will not disturb the zoning authority's action.

Drews v. City of Hattiesburg, 904 So. 2d 138, 140 (Miss. 2005) (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added). This Court "cannot substitute its own judgment as to the wisdom or soundness

of the municipality's action." Perez v. Garden Isle Cmty. Ass'n, 882 So. 2d 217, 219 (Miss. 2004) (quoting Barnes v. DeSoto County Bd. of Supervisors, 553 So. 2d 508, 510-11 (Miss. 1989)). Because "the judicial department of the government of this state has no authority to interdict either zoning or rezoning decisions which may be said 'fairly debatable," Luter v. Hammon, 529 So. 2d 625, 628 (Miss. 1988), "[t]he Courts should not constitute themselves as a Zoning Board for a municipality." Westminster Presbyterian Church v. Jackson, 176 So. 2d 267, 272 (Miss. 1965).

Alias proposes a much different standard of review for zoning cases:

Thus, on a question such as 'what are the conditions at the property,' there is a deferential standard of review. On the other hand, as with any legal issues, such as where the question is 'what does this ordinance mean,' the standard of review is *de novo*. Having adopted a zoning ordinance, a municipality is bound by its terms. The questions of what those terms mean – such as 'what constitutes a hardship under the ordinance' are legal questions, and are not entitled to deferential review.

Alias' Brief, at 9 (emphasis added).

Alias rightly points out that, as a general matter, this Court reviews pure issues of law under a *de novo* standard. Alias is also correct that a municipality may not ignore the terms of its own zoning ordinances. However, Alias has not alleged that the City failed to follow the procedures set forth in its Land Development Code, *see Noble v. Scheffler*, 529 So.2d 902 (Miss. 1988) (remanding because County failed to consider exceptions to use and area regulations), and none of the cases cited in Alias' Brief support his argument that the Court should abrogate the "arbitrary and capricious" standard, *see Caver v. Jackson County Bd. of Supervisors*, 947 So.2d 351 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (applying "arbitrary and capricious" standard of review).

In fact, this Court has held that "the best interpretation of what the wording in the ordinance means is the manner in which it is interpreted and applied by the enacting and enforcement authorities." Fondren N. Renaissance v. Mayor of Jackson, 749 So. 2d 974, 983 (Miss. 1999) (quoting Faircloth v. Lyles, 592 So. 2d 941, 945 (Miss. 1991)) (emphasis added). To be clear, the City does not argue that it may act with limitless discretion. However, the Board of Adjustment is the body ultimately responsible for the interpretation and application of the Land Development Code. To the extent that Alias argues that the Code does not mean what the Board of Adjustment says it means, the City respectfully submits that the Board's interpretation should be afforded great deference.

To be sure, the City is bound to its own validly-enacted zoning ordinance. However, the City is afforded great deference in implementing its ordinance and in interpreting it to make zoning decisions. Alias' attempt to make an end-run around this deferential standard of review is unfounded.

C. The City's zoning decision was fairly debatable, and not arbitrary and capricious

Alias argues that the Board's decision should be reversed because (1) Elam failed to demonstrate a hardship or burden sufficient to support a variance; (2) the hardship upon which the Board based its approval of Elam's variance was "self-created" as a matter of law; (3) the Board failed to consider other, "less obtrusive" variances, and (4) there was no evidence that Elam was denied rights commonly extended to others. Alias, ignoring the evidence before the Board and the deference due to municipal zoning decisions, now asks this Court to re-weigh that proof and reach a different conclusion than did the Board.

1. The City's finding of a burden upon Elam was fairly debatable

Alias argues that, regardless of the plain language of the City's zoning ordinances, an applicant for any variance in any political subdivision of this State "must show that the restrictions

make any use of the property impossible or impractical." Alias' Brief, at 18. Citing a "standard land-use treatise" and a Florida case from the mid-1980s, Alias asserts that this statement "is the law generally." *Id.* The problem with Alias' argument is that the appellate courts of this State have consistently looked to *local zoning ordinances* to determine the criteria for a variance. *See Drews v. City of Hattiesburg*, 904 So. 2d 138, 140-41 (Miss. 2005) (citing City of Hattiesburg's definition of a "variance"); *Taquino v. City of Ocean Springs*, 253 So.2d 854, 855 (Miss. 1971) (relying upon definition of "variance" found in City of Ocean Springs' subdivision regulations); *Caver v. Jackson County Board of Supervisors*, 947 So. 2d 351, 353 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (citing Jackson County's definition of "variance"). Furthermore, this Court has refused to impose additional restrictions upon a local zoning ordinance based on treatise citations. *See Fondren North Renaissance v. Mayor and City Council of City of Jackson*, 749 So.2d 974, 982-83 (Miss. 1999) ("However, FNR's argument is founded on a general treatise, and no such language requiring use by the general public appears in the City of Jackson ordinance.").

The City's zoning ordinance *does not* require that a piece of property be rendered useless before a variance may issue. The Code requires that the record support a finding of "unnecessary hardship" in order to grant a variance. LDC § 216.07(1). The Code states that a hardship can be found when a literal interpretation of the Code "would place an individual in an unusual circumstance and would deny the right to use property for any purpose, *or* create an unnecessary burden, unless relief is granted." LDC § 117.89. (emphasis added). Because this last phrase is disjunctive, the Board of Adjustment's discretion is not so limited as Alias suggests.

In an attempt to get around the plain language of the ordinance, Alias argues that a finding of "unnecessary burden" must be of "equivalent weight" to a finding that a property has been deprived of any use at all. Alias' Brief, at 20-21. This statement, which is of Alias' own creation,

11

is nothing more than an invitation for the Court to substitute its judgment for that of the Board of Adjustment. Neither the ordinance nor any Mississippi law of which the City is aware requires that an "unnecessary burden" be tantamount to a complete deprivation of the use of an applicant's property.

The burden in this case is illustrated by the fact that shape of Elam's lot is plainly not contemplated by the relevant Code provisions. Under a literal interpretation of the Code, much of the segment of property in question (the "pole" of the flag lot) is a driveway-width "front yard" sandwiched between the "side yards" of the properties to the immediate north and south. R. 39. By way of further example, if the front line of the building as defined by the Code (a line drawn from the foremost portion of the house parallel to the right-of-way line) is drawn on the Elam lot, that line of the house would cut directly through a portion of the house. LDC § 117.23; R. 6-9 In that case, part of the western face of the house itself could be a non-conforming "wall ... which is also a screen located in front of any front building line." LDC § 157.01(2). [See Appendix 1].³ Also, if the literal terms of the ordinance were applied to the Elam property, the southern "side yard" would only begin at a point *behind* the back of Elam's house. [Id.].

This case is distinguishable from the Court of Appeals' decision in *Caver*. In that case, the applicant's home was located sixteen and a half feet from one neighbor's property line and seven and a half feet from the property line of the neighbor on the opposite side of the house. *Caver*, 947 So. 2d at 352-53. A subsequent zoning ordinance required that all houses be built at least twenty feet from each adjacent property line, but the applicant's house fell under a grandfather clause. *Id.* at

³Appendix 1 is a copy of R. 9 with the "front building line" drawn as described in LDC § 117.23. The City offers this Appendix for demonstrative purposes only, and does not seek to add to the certified record.

353. The applicant's nonconforming house burned down, and, during the process of rebuilding, he sought to "center" his home on his lot, leaving twelve and a half feet between his house and each adjacent property line. *Id.* Because this new plan sought to build outside the footprint of the new house, the applicant sought a variance. *Id.* at 353.

The applicant's neighbors opposed the variance, which would have allowed the reconstructed home to be built four feet closer to their property line than the old home had been. *Id.* at 252-53. The Court of Appeals found that there was no evidence of "undue hardship" because the applicant had admitted that the only burden to him in the absence of a variance was payment of an additional \$530 to have his house plans redrawn. *Id.* at 354. Nothing in the Court of Appeals' opinion indicates that the applicant was denied any rights that were commonly conferred upon others in his area.

Unlike *Caver*, the variance was not granted merely for Elam's convenience, and his burden is not merely financial. Because of the unusual shape and orientation of his lot, a literal interpretation of the Land Development Code will absolutely prohibit Elam from using his property in the same manner his neighbors can. Alias' belief that this use is "frivolous" (even while conceding that he would not have opposed a screen of vegetation built to serve the same purpose, R. 43) does not render the Board's decision arbitrary and capricious. Alias' Brief, at 21.

In order to grant a variance under the City's zoning ordinance, the Board need not have found that Elam would have been deprived of any use of his property for any purpose. The Board could reasonably have determined that a literal application of the ordinance created an "unusual circumstance" or an "unnecessary burden" from which Elam should have been granted relief. The

- 13

Board found that special circumstances exist that are peculiar to Elam's property, and that finding was not arbitrary and capricious.

2. Elam's hardship is not self-created "as a matter of law"

Alias does not argue that Elam created the hardship on his property. Instead, he asserts that the hardship was "self-created" as *a matter of law* because a prior subdivider initially created the shape of the lot. As the City discussed above, the City's decision must be upheld if it is not arbitrary and capricious. Alias' claim that he should be given a more favorable *de novo* standard of review on this issue is unfounded.

Because the City has considerable discretion in passing and administering its zoning ordinances, the question is not "What should the ordinance say?", but rather "What does the ordinance actually say?" Neither the City's zoning ordinances nor any Mississippi law says that actions of a predecessor in title disqualify a variance applicant from his requested relief. There is no prohibition on variances tied to the actions of a subdivider. Alias' argument only succeeds if this Court either (1) implies new language into the text of the Code or (2) creates new Mississippi law that imposes a new restriction on every zoning authority in the State, regardless of the language of any of their zoning ordinances.

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